
In-person participation by the public will be permitted. In addition, remote public 
participation is available in the following ways: 

1. Livestream online at www.atwater.org (Please be advised that there is a 
broadcasting delay. If you would like to participate in public comment, please use 
the option below). 

2. Submit a written public comment prior to the meeting: Public comments submitted 
to planning@atwater.org by 4:00 p.m. on the day of the meeting will be distributed 
to the Planning Commission and made part of the official minutes but will not be 
read out loud during the meeting. 

 
Assistance will be provided to those requiring accommodations for disabilities in 
compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. Persons requesting 
accommodation should contact the City in advance of the meeting, and as soon as 
possible, at (209) 812-1031. 

 

CITY OF ATWATER 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

AGENDA 
 

Council Chambers 
750 Bellevue Road  
Atwater, CA 95301 

 
 

November 20, 2024 
 
CALL TO ORDER:                                    6:00 PM 

 
INVOCATION:  
 
Invocation by Police Chaplain McClellan 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG:  
 
ROLL CALL:   
 
Kadach____, Mokha____, Sanchez-Garcia ____, Sanders____, Borgwardt____ 
 
SUBSEQUENT NEED ITEMS: (The Planning Secretary shall announce any requests for items 
requiring immediate action subsequent to the posting of the agenda. Subsequent need items require a two-
thirds vote of the members of the Commission present at the meeting.) 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA AS POSTED OR AS AMENDED: (This is the time for the 
Commission to remove items from the agenda or to change the order of the agenda.) 

http://www.atwater.org/
mailto:planning@atwater.org


Planning Commission Agenda for Meeting of November 20, 2024             Page 2 

Staff’s Recommendation: Motion to approve agenda as posted or as amended. 
 
MINUTES:   

 
1. October 16, 2024 – Regular Meeting  

 
Staff’s Recommendation:  Approval of minutes as listed.  

 
PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS:  
 
None 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS:  
 

2. Public Hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving 
Conditional Use Permit No. 24-22-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-22-0200, 
located at 1883 Sycamore Avenue, Atwater (APN 001-146-011). 
(Applicant: BK Industries Inc.) 
 

Staff’s Recommendation: Open the public hearing and receive any 
testimony given;  
  
Close the public hearing; 
 
Make a finding that the project is categorically exempt under California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guideline section 15303, Class 3 “New 
Construction or Conversion of Small Structures;” and adopt Resolution No. 
0255-24 approving Conditional Use Permit No. 24-22-0100, and Site Plan 
No. 24-22-0200 located at 1883 Sycamore Avenue, Atwater (APN: 001-
146-011) 
 

3. Public Hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving 
Conditional Use Permit No. 24-24-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-24-0200 
for a mini storage, located at Bell Avenue, Truckee Drive, and Shasta 
Drive, Atwater (APN: 001-134-012). 
(Applicant: Patrick Corrigan) 
 

Staff’s Recommendation: Open the public hearing and receive any 
testimony given;  
 
Close the public hearing; 
 
Make a finding that the project is categorically exempt under California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guideline section 15332, Class 32 “In-
Fill Development Projects”, and adopt Resolution No. 0257-24 approving 
Conditional Use Permit No. 24-24-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-24-0200 for a 
mini storage located at Bell Avenue, Truckee Drive, and Shasta Drive, 
Atwater (APN: 001-134-012). 



Planning Commission Agenda for Meeting of November 20, 2024             Page 3 

 
REPORTS AND PRESENTATION FROM STAFF:  
 

4. Deputy City Manager / Community Development Director Verbal Updates 
 
COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC:  

COMMISSIONER MATTERS: 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
I, Kayla Rashad, Planning Commission Recording Secretary, do hereby certify that a copy 
of the foregoing Agenda was posted at City Hall a minimum of 72 hours prior to the 
meeting. 
 

Kayla Rashad 
__________________________________ 
Kayla Rashad,  
Planning Commission Recording Secretary  
 
 
SB 343 NOTICE 
In accordance with California Government Code Section 54957.5, any writing or document that is a public 
record, relates to an open session agenda item and is distributed less than 72 hours prior to a regular 
meeting will be made available for public inspection in the Community Development Department at City 
Hall during normal business hours at 750 Bellevue Road. 

  
If, however, the document or writing is not distributed until the regular meeting to which it relates, then the 
document or writing will be made available to the public at the location of the meeting, as listed on this 
agenda at 750 Bellevue Road. 

 
In compliance with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, upon request, the 
agenda can be provided in an alternative format to accommodate special needs.  If you 
require special accommodations to participate in a Planning Commission meeting due to 
a disability, please contact the Planning Commission Secretary a minimum of three (3) 
business days in advance of the meeting at planning@atwater.org or  (209) 812-1031. You 
may also send the request by email to  

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC 
 

At this time any person may comment on any item which is not on the agenda. You may state your name and 
address for the record; however, it is not required. Action will not be taken on an item that is not on the agenda. If 
it requires action, it will be referred to staff and/or placed on a future agenda. Please limit comments to a maximum 
of three (3) minutes. 
 

 

mailto:planning@atwater.org


 
CITY OF ATWATER 

 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
ACTION MINUTES 

 
October 16, 2024 

 
 
REGULAR SESSION: (Council Chambers) 
 
The Planning Commission of the City of Atwater met in Regular Session 
this date at 6:04 PM in the City Council Chambers located at the Atwater 
Civic Center, 750 Bellevue Road, Atwater, California;  
 
INVOCATION:  
 
Invocation by Chaplain Mead 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG: 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Chair Borgwardt 
 
At 6:08pm a recess was called. 
 
The meeting resumed at 6:13pm. 
 
ROLL CALL:   
 
Present:  Planning Commission Members Mokha, Sanders, and Chair 

Borgwardt. 
Absent: Planning Commission Members Kadach and Sanchez-Garcia 
Staff Present: Chief Salvador, Deputy City Manager Thompson, Lieutenant 

Novetzke, Recording Secretary Rashad . 
 
SUBSEQUENT NEED ITEMS:   



None 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA AS POSTED OR AS AMENDED: 
 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Sanders moved to approve the agenda. 
The motion was seconded by Planning Commission Member Mokha and the vote 
was: Ayes: Planning Commission Members Sanders, Mokha and Borgwardt; Noes: 
None; Absent: Planning Commission Members Kadach and Sanchez-Garcia. The 
motion passed. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  
 
a) August 21, 2024 – Regular Meeting 
 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Sanders moved to approve the minutes. 
The motion was seconded by Planning Commission Member Mokha and the vote 
was: Ayes: Planning Commission Members Sanders, Mokha and Borgwardt; Noes: 
None; Absent: Planning Commission Members Kadach and Sanchez-Garcia. The 
motion passed. 
 
PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS:  
 
None. 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 
Public Hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving Conditional Use Permit No. 
24-22-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-22-0200, located at 1883 Sycamore Avenue, Atwater 
(APN 001-146-011). 

(Applicant: BK Industries Inc.) 

Deputy City Manager Thompson requested to continue the item to the November 
20th Planning Commission hearing per the applicant, to allow staff and the 
applicant to resolve technical issues. 
 
Chair Borgwardt opened the public hearing. 
 
Nereida Jantz came forward to speak in favor of the project. 
 
Daron Jantz came forward to speak in favor of the project. 
 
No one else came forward to speak. 
 
Chair Borgwardt closed the public hearing. 
 



Public Hearing to consider adopting a resolution recommending City Council adopt a 
Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment amending Chapter 17.16 “Low Density Residential 
Districts” of the Atwater Municipal Code to add “R-1-5” (5,000 square foot lots) as a single-
family residential district under the Low-Density Residential Zone. 

(Applicant: City of Atwater) 

Deputy City Manager Thompson provided background on this project. 
 
Chair Borgwardt opened the public hearing. 
 
No one else came forward to speak. 
 
Chair Borgwardt closed the public hearing. 
 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Mokha moved to make a finding that the 
project is categorically exempt under California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
guideline section 15061(b)(3), “Review for Exemption”, under the common sense 
exemption, and adopt Resolution No. 0256-24 Recommending the City Council 
Adopt Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment No. 24-23-0100 Amending Chapter 
17.16: “Low Density Residential Districts” of the Atwater Municipal Code, to add 
“R-1-5” (5,000 square foot lots) as a Single Family Residential district. The motion 
was seconded by Planning Commission Member Sanders and the vote was: Ayes: 
Planning Commission Members Mokha, Sanders and Borgwardt; Noes: None; 
Absent: Planning Commission Members Kadach and Sanchez-Garcia. The motion 
passed. 
 
Public Hearing to consider adopting a resolution recommending the City Council of Atwater 
approve an Amendment to Update the Improvement Standards and Specifications of the 
City of Atwater  

(Applicant: City of Atwater) 

Deputy City Manager Thompson provided background on this project. 
 
Chair Borgwardt opened the public hearing. 
 
No one else came forward to speak. 
 
Chair Borgwardt closed the public hearing. 
 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Sanders moved to adopt Resolution No. 
0258-24 making a recommendation to the City Council of Atwater to approve an 
amendment and update to the Improvement Standards and Specifications of the 
City of Atwater by repealing the current city standards listed here: DR-1, SCG-1, 
SCG-2, SCG-4, SCG-5, ST-3 and replacing them with the attached improvement 
standards. Adopt standard details ST-8, ST-9. Repeal standard details D-1, D-5. 



The motion was seconded by Planning Commission Member Mokha and the vote 
was: Ayes: Planning Commission Members Sanders, Mokha and Borgwardt; Noes: 
None; Absent: Planning Commission Members Kadach and Sanchez-Garcia. The 
motion passed. 
 
Public Hearing to make a finding that the proposed shade structure for Veterans Memorial 
Park in Atwater, CA (APN: 005-070-001), conforms with the City’s policies, codes, and 
guidelines for government buildings pursuant to the Atwater Municipal Code 17.12.060. 

(Applicant: City of Atwater) 

This item was withdrawn. 
 
Public Hearing to consider adopting a resolution recommending City Council adopt a 
Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment amending Chapter 17.28 “Accessory Dwelling Units” 
of the Atwater Municipal Code to comply with recent changes in State law; and finding 
the action to be statutorily exempt from CEQA under section 21080.17 of the Public 
Resources Code. 

 
(Applicant: City of Atwater) 
 
Deputy City Manager Thompson provided background on this project. 
 
Chair Borgwardt opened the public hearing. 
 
No one came forward to speak. 
 
Chair Borgwardt closed the public hearing. 
 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Mokha moved to Make a finding that the 
project is statutorily exempt from review under the California Environmental 
Quality Act (“CEQA”) under Public Resources Code section 21080.17; and adopt 
Resolution No. 0259-24 Recommending the City Council Adopt Zoning Ordinance 
Text Amendment No. 24-28-0100 amending Chapter 17.28 “Accessory Dwelling 
Units” of the Atwater Municipal Code to comply with recent changes in State law. 
The motion was seconded by Planning Commission Member Sanders and the vote 
was: Ayes: Planning Commission Members Mokha, Sanders and Borgwardt; Noes: 
None; Absent: Planning Commission Members Kadach and Sanchez-Garcia. The 
motion passed. 
 
REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS FROM STAFF:  
 
Deputy City Manager / Community Development Director Updates. 
 
None. 



COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC: 
 
Chair Borgwardt opened the public comment. 
 
Notice to the public was read. 
 
No one came forward to speak. 
 
Chair Borgwardt closed the public comment. 

COMMISSIONER MATTERS: 

Chair Borgwardt requested a future discussion regarding “Economic 
Development” specific to the City of Atwater. 
 
Chair Borgwardt requested clarification and review of the City’s signage ordinance. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
Chair Borgwardt adjourned the meeting at 6:46 PM. 
 
 
____________________________ 
Don Borgwardt, Chair 
 
By: Kayla Rashad 
Recording Secretary 
 



 

 

 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

AGENDA REPORT  

 
      

 

  

 

MEETING DATE: October 16, 2024 
 
TO:    Chair and Commissioners 
 
FROM:   Scott Ruffalo, Planning Technician 
 
SUBJECT:  Public hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving 

Conditional Use Permit No. 24-22-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-22-
0200 located at 1883 Sycamore Avenue in Atwater (APN: 001-
146-011). 

 
    

RECOMMENDED COMMISSION ACTION: 
 
It is recommended that Planning Commission: 
 

1. Open the public hearing and receive any testimony from the public; and, 
 

2. Make a finding that the project is categorically exempt under California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guideline section 15303, Class 3 “New 
Construction or Conversion of Small Structures;” and, 

 
3. Adopt Resolution No. 0255-24 approving Conditional Use Permit No. 24-22-0100, 

and Site Plan No. 24-22-0200 located at 1883 Sycamore Avenue, Atwater (APN: 
001-146-011) 

 
I. BACKGROUND:  
 
The subject property is located at 1883 Sycamore Avenue, Atwater APN 001-146-011. 
The freestanding two-sided digital billboard will be constructed on the southwest portion 
of a 1.2-acre vacant lot. The proposed request for the freestanding two-sided digital 
billboard is intended to help support the newly established development in the area and 
potentially provide other advertising opportunities for businesses within the Atwater 
community. 
 
 
II. ANALYSIS:  
 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

Jagandeep Mokha 
 

Donald Borgwardt  Ileisha Sanders 
 
Harold Kadach   Mayra Sanchez-Garcia 

 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 2 

 

   

 

 

 

  

The applicant, BK Industries, Inc is requesting to construct a freestanding two-sided 
digital billboard located at 1883 Sycamore Avenue, Atwater (APN: 001-146-011). The 
electronic message board, including supporting structure, will be approximately forty-nine 
feet and in height have an envelope of 1,000 square feet and consist of one pillar. The 
electronic message board will be constructed of metal and have two sides with each side 
containing an electronic message board 37 feet and 6-inches from the finished ground 
surface and no higher than 49 feet. The two electronic message boards will each contain 
a display of approximately 380 square feet per side (760 square feet total). The sign 
structure will sit one pillar located approximately  24 feet 2-inches from the property line  
on Sycamore Avenue and 23 feet from the westerly portion property line along the 
Parriera Drain. The general character and aesthetic of the structure will be metal 
construction with a natural quartzite wall tile at the base of the structure. The electronic 
message boards will be used to provide advertising opportunities for the local business 
market as well as provide a place for creating awareness for community events. 
 
The project is located at 1883 Sycamore Avenue, APN 001-146-011 (see Figure 1). The 
subject property is zoned B-P (Business Park) has a Land Use Designation of Business 
Park per the Atwater General Plan. Per the Atwater Municipal Code (AMC) 17.69.240, 
businesses located within 300 feet of the Freeway 99 right-of-way may have one 
freestanding sign up to 50 feet in height measured from the finished grade to the top of 
the sign and may exceed 250 square feet in area subject to the approval of a conditional 
use permit. 
 

1. The Electronic Message Board is consistent with Sections 17.69.500(A), 
17.69.240, 17.69.050(Q) and 17.69.120(H) of this Code. 

2. The orientation of the face of the Electronic Message Board is not detrimental to 
the character of development in the immediate neighborhood and does not pose 
a safety risk to motorists or pedestrians. 

3. The Electronic Message Board is consistent with the City's General Plan, the City's 
Zoning Code, City Municipal Code and all other applicable codes and regulations. 

 
AMC 17.69.500(A) provides guidelines for several different types of signage such as 
monument signs, Freestanding Reader Board, Electronic Message Boards, and 
freestanding signs to name a few for example. The majority of the municipal code that 
provides guidance regarding the Freestanding Electric Message board will be located in 
17.69.500 (A)(2) which is identified above and AMC 17.69.500(A)(5). AMC 
17.69.500(A)(5) states all monument signs, freestanding signs, and directional signs shall 
be placed within the landscaped area to be equipped with a seven-day automatic 
irrigation system which is one of the conditions required by the applicant.  
 
AMC 17.69.240 provides guidelines to freestanding signs within freeway corridors.  For 
purposes of this specific request, AMC 17.69.240 provides the provision for free standing 
signs to exceed 250 square feet in advertising space with the approval of a conditional 
use permit if within 300 feet of the State Route 99 right-of-way.  The proposed sign is 
confirmed to meet that requirement and as designed is subject to approval by the 
Planning Commission. 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 3 

 

   

 

 

 

  

 
17.69.050 defines Electronic Message an Board, which states “A sign capable of 
displaying words, symbols, figures, or images that can be electronically or mechanically 
changed by remote or automatic means. The duration of a message shall be displayed 
for a period of no less than 20 of seconds. The transition from one message to another 
shall be instantaneous as perceived from the human eye and each electronic message 
board shall be complete in itself and shall not continue by fading, scrolling, or other 
manner to a subsequent message. No electronic message board shall display animated 
messages, including flashing, blinking, fading, rolling, dissolving, or any other effect that 
gives the appearance of movement. No electronic message board shall include or emit 
an audio message, which is also included as part of the conditions of approval and as a 
result the project meets the requirements outlined in item number one of section. 
 
A ground lease or sufficient instrument, such as a rental agreement must be obtained 
prior to construction.  
 
With the approval of the Conditional Use Permit the project will be consistent with the 
zoning ordinance and general plan with the adoption of Resolution No. 255-24.  
 
Figure 1 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 4 

 

   

 

 

 

  

 
 
Description of Surrounding Uses: The parcels immediately to the north of the subject 
property include drainage basin. The parcels to the east include vacant shell buildings. 
West of the subject property is currently vacant property and the parcels to the south of 
the subject property is CALTRANS right-of-way (See Figure 1). 
 
Land Use Designation: The project site has a land use designation of B-P, Business 
Park District Overlay (Mixed Use District). This designation is intended to accommodate 
a wide range of business uses and may include manufacturing operations within 
completely enclosed buildings, associated offices, trade schools, and supporting 
childcare and retail activities. The applicant is requesting a conditional use permit to allow 
a freestanding two-sided digital billboard to support newly established development in the 
area and potentially provide other advertising opportunities for businesses within the 
Atwater community. The Project is consistent with the land use designation.  
 
Figure 2 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 5 

 

   

 

 

 

  

 
 
 
Zoning: The subject property is zoned Business Park (B-P) (See Figure 3).  The purpose 
of the B-P zone is to provide a location for Mixed Uses necessary within the City, but not 
suited to other commercial districts.  Development of a light industrial facility is allowed 
through approval of a site plan review but associated signage under this zoning 
designation must be approved by the Planning Commission under a Conditional Use 
Permit Application. 
 
Figure 3 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 6 

 

   

 

 

 

  

 
 
 
 
III. FISCAL IMPACTS:  
 
No negative fiscal impacts are anticipated with the approval of this project. This item 
has been reviewed by the Finance Department. 
 
IV. LEGAL REVIEW: 
 
This item has been reviewed by the City Attorney. 
 
V. EXISTING POLICY:  
 
None  
 
VI. INTERDEPARTMENTAL COORDINATION:  
 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 7 

 

   

 

 

 

  

The Planning Commission could affirm the staff’s recommendation or make another 
recommendation consistent with the Atwater Municipal Code. 
 
VII. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:  
 
The public will have an opportunity to provide comments on this item prior to Planning 
Commission action. The public will have the opportunity to provide comments on this item 
prior to Planning Commission action. 
 
VIII. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW:  
 
Pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the project is categorically 
exempt under guideline section 15303, Class 3 “New Construction or Conversion of Small 
Structures. 
 
Class 3 consists of construction and location of limited numbers of new, small facilities or 
structures.  
 
IX. STEPS FOLLOWING APPROVAL:  
Following adoption of Resolution No. 0255-24, Conditional Use Permit No.  24-22-0100 
and Site Plan No. 24-22-0200 and a five-day appeal period, the signed resolutions will be 
given to the applicant.  
 
Prepared by: Scott Ruffalo, Planning Technician 
 
Submitted by: _____________________________________________ 

Greg Thompson, Deputy City Manager / Community Development        
Director  

 
Attachments:  

1. Resolution No 0255-24 
2. City of Atwater Uniform Development Application  
3. Operational Statement  
4. Site Plan  
5. Elevation  

 
 



 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

OF THE CITY OF ATWATER 

   
 
 

                                                                                                                                    
RESOLUTION NO. 0255-24 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF ATWATER 
APPROVING CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 
24-22-0100 AND SITE PLAN NO. 24-22-0200, 
LOCATED AT 1883 AT SYCAMORE AVENUE IN 
ATWATER (APN: 001-146-011). 

WHEREAS, the applicant proposed to operate a two sided digital billboard; and, 
 
WHEREAS, said application was reviewed by the Planning Commission of the City of 
Atwater on November 20, 2024; and, 

WHEREAS, this location is currently zoned Business Park and has a land use 
designation of Business Park; and, 

WHEREAS, the proposed Conditional Use Permit No. 24-22-0100 and Site Plan 24-22-
0200 would not have a detrimental effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the 
neighborhood nor have any adverse effect on the community; and, 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission finds that the following findings can be made for 
Conditional Use Permit No. 24-22-0100 and Site Plan 24-22-0200. 

1. The project is consistent with the City’s General Plan and Zoning Ordinance. 
2. That the project is exempt under CEQA guideline 15303, Class “3 “New 

Construction or Conversion of Small Structures. 
3. That the public hearing for this application has been adequately noticed and 

advertised. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Planning Commission of the City of 
Atwater does hereby approve Conditional Use Permit No. 24-22-0100 and Site Plan 
24-22-0200 subject to the following conditions:  

 
 
 
 
BUILDING 
 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0255-24 Page 2 
 

1. The permit application and as per Atwater Municipal Code Title 15, all plan 
submittals shall reflect the latest Building Codes and Appendices as adopted. 
Materials such as Designed Plans, Project Specifications, Structural 
Calculations, Energy Calculations, Soils Report, California Green Code 
Documents, and Special Inspection form (filled out by project designer), and any 
other applicable documents shall be included in plan submittal. 
 

2. Plan submittals shall be submitted using the city’s digital on-line permitting 
system, CloudPermit. If the project is submitted via hard copy plans, please send 
Five (5) sets of plans including the calculations and any supporting materials 
three (3) sets of Energy, Structural, Soils Report, California Green Code 
Documents, Special Inspection form, and any other applicable 
calculations/specifications or documents   
 

3. The deposit amount for plan check fees will be calculated by staff after receipt of 
a complete Building Permit Application and must be paid prior to processing the 
plans for review. 

 
4. Building plans shall reflect the most recent California Building Codes (Title 24) 

which consist of the Building Code volume 1 & 2. 
 

5. Building Permit cards and city approved plans and calculations shall always be 
kept on the construction site. No inspection shall be conducted without these 
documents. 
 

6. The construction site shall have an address clearly posted at the front of the 
property to provide easy recognition for both building inspectors and emergency 
services.  
 

7. All Conditions of Approval for this project shall be written by the project 
developer on all building permit plan check sets submitted for review and 
approval. These Conditions of Approval shall be on, at all times, all grading and 
construction plans kept on the project site. It is the responsibility of the project 
developer to ensure that the project contractor is aware of, and abides by, all 
Conditions of Approval. Prior approval from the Community Development 
Director must be received before any changes are constituted in site design, 
grading, building design, building colors or materials, etc. 

 
CALTRANS 
 

8. All off-premises commercial advertising displays visible from the National 
Highway System are subject to the provisions of the California Outdoor 
Advertising Act (Bus. & Prof. Code Section 5200 et. seq.) and must obtain an 
ODA Permit from the Office of Encroachment and Outdoor Advertising Permits 
(OEOAP) prior to placement.  

 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0255-24 Page 3 
 

ENGINEERING 
 

9. All improvements, public and private, shall be designed and constructed in 
accordance with the most recent edition of the City of Atwater Improvement 
Standards and Specifications and the most recent edition of the Caltrans 
Standard Plans and Specifications, all applicable federal, state, and local 
ordinances, standards, and requirements. Should a conflict arise, the governing 
specification shall be determined by the City Engineer. 

10. The applicant shall secure and comply with all applicable federal, state and local 
licenses, permits, authorizations, conditions, agreements, and orders prior to or 
during construction and operation, as appropriate. 

 
11. An encroachment permit shall be required for any construction including utility 

connections to be done in the public right of way or in public easements. The 
encroachment permit shall be obtained prior to the start of said work. The permit 
fees shall be determined per the current adopted Miscellaneous Fee Schedule. 

 
12. The developer shall coordinate all grading and improvements with adjacent 

property owners to the satisfaction of the City if required due to an 
encroachment. Any grading or drainage onto adjacent properties shall require 
written approval of those property owners affected, with said approval provided to 
the City Engineer. 

 
13. All broken, cracked or otherwise damaged public improvements within the course 

of construction, such as curb, gutter, and sidewalk, shall be saw cut, removed 
and replaced in accordance with applicable city standards to the satisfaction of 
the City Engineer. 

 
14. For the proposed on-site improvements, the developer shall cause Improvement 

Plans to be prepared. The plans shall be prepared by a Licensed Civil Engineer 
or under his/her direction. The plans shall be prepared on 24" X 36" plan sheets 
and to a reasonable scale. The plans shall be in a format to be approved by the 
City Engineer and shall show all the proposed grading and on-site and off-site 
improvements for the proposed development. The title of the plan shall be shown 
at the top of Sheet No. 1. Sheets shall be numbered in consecutive order. An 
index showing the sheets contained within and as a part of the Site Improvement 
Plan shall be shown on Sheet 1.  

15. Prior to occupancy, the developer shall supply the City with both hardcopy and 
electronic (Adobe PDF and AutoCAD file formats) showing plans that reflect the 
project as it was built (As-Builts or Record Drawings) to the satisfaction of the 
City Engineer. Improvement Plans hardcopy shall be on 4-mil minimum thickness 
translucent mylar film. 
 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0255-24 Page 4 
 

16. All utility trenches or excavations shall be excavated, backfilled, and compacted 
in accordance with applicable City Standards and with any conditions for paving 
structural sections included within this resolution. 
 

17. The applicant shall abandon and remove from the site any existing irrigation lines 
and other structures found. Lines shall be plugged at the property line with 
concrete. 

 
18. Should the project exceed an addition of 5,000 square feet of impervious area, 

the Developer shall provide for a drainage system capable of handling and 
disposing of all surface water originating within the Development. Said drainage 
system shall include any easements and structures required by the City 
Engineer to properly handle the drainage and shall be designed so as to prevent 
ponding of surface water that would create a public health hazard or nuisance. 

 
19. Developer shall comply with Chapter 13.22 of the Atwater Municipal Code "Storm 

Water Management and Discharge Control" and with the City of Atwater Post 
Construction Standards Plan. 

 
20. If the project exceeds an addition of 2,500 square feet of impervious area, the 

developer shall process a Post-Construction Stormwater BMP Operation and 
Maintenance Plan for review and approval to the satisfaction of the City 
Engineer. The applicant shall comply with the provisions of the City of Atwater 
Post-Construction Standards Plan. 

 
21. If a Post-Construction Plan is required, the owner shall execute any agreements 

identified in the Post-Construction Standards Plan that pertain to the transfer of 
ownership and/or long-term maintenance of stormwater treatment or hydrograph 
modification BMPs to the satisfaction of the City Engineer and the Director of the 
Community Development Department. 

 
22. The developer shall properly abandon or relocate any utilities conflicting with the 

proposed improvements as necessary or required. 
 

23. All underground utilities shall be installed in conformance with existing City 
policy including without limitation the City of Atwater Subdivision and Zoning 
Ordinances. 

24. The installation (if required) of all gas, electric, sewer, and water lines and any 
other below-surface utilities is to take place before the construction of any 
concrete curbs, gutters, sidewalks, and the surfacing of streets. 
 

25. Applicant shall comply with all requirements of the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution 
Control District (SJVAPCD). 
 

26. The project shall be in compliance with the most recent Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA) regulations, if applicable. 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0255-24 Page 5 
 

 
27. Sight distance requirements at all street intersections shall conform to City 

Standards. 

28. The applicant shall submit a geotechnical report together with improvement 
plans to the City Engineer for review and approval. The report shall include the 
information and be in the form as required by the City Engineer and all 
applicable codes.  This report shall remain valid for use in future projects on this 
site for three years, with the approval of the chief building official. 

PLANNING 

29. The duration of a message shall be displayed for a period of no less than 20 
seconds.  

 
30. The transition from one message to another shall be instantaneous as 

perceived from the human eye and each electronic message board message 
shall be complete and shall not continue by fading, scrolling, or other manner to 
a subsequent message. 
 

31. No electronic message board shall display animated messages, including 
flashing, blinking, fading, rolling, dissolving, or any other effect that gives the 
appearance of movement. 
 

32. No electronic message board shall include or emit an audio message. 
 

33. The Planning Commission shall retain the right to reconsider Conditional Use 
Permit No. 24-22-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-22-0200. 
 

34. The applicant shall comply with all local, state and federal regulations. 

35. This approval is dependent upon and limited to the proposals and plans 
contained, supporting documents submitted, presentations made to staff, and 
Planning Commission as affirmed to by the applicant. Any variation from these 
plans, proposals, supporting documents, or presentations is subject to review 
and approval prior to implementation. 

36. The Applicant must provide a Commercial Conditional Use Permit General Plan 
Update Fee in accordance with the Miscellaneous Fee Schedule. 

37. The applicant or applicant’s successor in interest shall indemnify and defend and 
hold harmless the City of Atwater, its agents, officers, and employees from any 
and all claims, actions, or proceedings against the City of Atwater, its agents, 
officers, and employees to attack, set aside, void, or annul any approval by the 
City of Atwater and its advisory agency, appeal board, or legislative body 
concerning this application, which action is brought within applicable statutes of 
limitations. The City of Atwater shall promptly notify the applicant or applicant’s 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0255-24 Page 6 
 

successor in interest of any claim or proceedings and shall cooperate fully in the 
defense. If the City fails to do so, the applicant or applicant’s successor in 
interest shall not thereafter be responsible to defend, indemnify or hold the City 
harmless. This condition may be placed on any plans or other documents 
pertaining to this application. 

 

The foregoing resolution is hereby adopted this 20th day of November, 2024. 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:     
       APPROVED: 
 
       _____________________________                                                               
       DON BORGWARDT,  
       CHAIRPERSON  
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________                                                                           
GREG THOMPSON,  
DEPUTY CITY MANAGER /  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 





































 

 

 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
AGENDA REPORT  
 
      

 

  

 
MEETING DATE: November 20, 2024 
 
TO:    Chair and Commissioners 
 
FROM:   Scott Ruffalo, Planning Technician 
 
SUBJECT:  Public hearing to consider adopting a Resolution approving 

Conditional Use Permit No. 24-24-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-24-
0200 for mini storage located at Bell Drive between Truckee 
Drive and Shasta Drive in Atwater (APN: 001-134-012). 

 
    

RECOMMENDED COMMISSION ACTION: 
 
It is recommended that Planning Commission: 
 
1. Open the public hearing and receive any testimony from the public; and, 

 
2. Make a finding that the project is categorically exempt under California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guideline section 15332, Class 32 “in-fill 
development;” and, 

 
3. Adopt Resolution No. 0257-24 approving Conditional Use Permit No. 24-22-0100, 

and Site Plan No. 24-24-0200 located at Bell Drive between Truckee Drive and 
Shasta Drive in Atwater (APN: 001-134-012). 

 
I. BACKGROUND:  
 
The subject property is located at Bell Drive, Atwater APN 001-134-012. The applicant 
intends to construct a mini storage complex with an office and managers unit on a 5.5-
acre vacant lot. The proposed request for mini storage is intended to help support the 
newly established development in the Atwater community. 
 
II. ANALYSIS:  
 
The applicant, Patrick Corrigan, is requesting to construct a mini storage complex located 
at Bell Drive between Truckee Drive and Shasta Drive in Atwater (APN: 001-134-012). 
The mini storage will be constructed on a vacant 5.5-acre lot. The mini storage complex 
will consist of 610 units within 11 buildings. The units will vary in sizes ranging from 5 ft. 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

Jagandeep Mokha 
 

Donald Borgwardt  Ileisha Sanders 
 
Harold Kadach   Mayra Sanchez-Garcia 
 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 2 
 
   

 
 
 

  

x 10 ft. to 15 ft. x 30 ft. In addition to the storage units, there will be a two (2)-story office 
building with a garage and living quarters, totaling 1,800 square feet, within the “Area of 
Work”. Five (5) parking spaces and site improvements including paved drive aisles, curb, 
gutter, sidewalk, lighting, trash enclosure, and landscape areas, are also proposed. 
 
The project is located at Bell Drive between Truckee Drive and Shasta Drive in Atwater 
APN: 001-134-012 (see Figure 1). The subject property is zoned B-P (Business Park) 
which has a Land Use Designation of Commercial. Per the Atwater Municipal Code 
(AMC) 17.49.030, any size of mini-warehouse development requires a use permit. 
 

a) The project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and all 
applicable general plan policies as well as with applicable zoning designation and 
regulations. 

b) The proposed development occurs within city limits on a project site of no more 
than five acres substantially surrounded by urban uses. 

c) The project sire has no value as habitat for endangered, rare, or threatened 
species. 

d) Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating to traffic, 
noise, air quality, or water quality. 

e) The site can be adequately served by all required utilities and public services. 
 
With the approval of the Conditional Use Permit the project will be consistent with the 
zoning ordinance and general plan with the adoption of Resolution No. 257-24.  
 
Figure 1 

 
 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 3 
 
   

 
 
 

  

Description of Surrounding Uses: The parcels immediately to the north of the subject 
property is Planned Development (PD-26). The parcels to the east, west, and south are 
Business Park (B-P).  
 
Land Use Designation: The project site has a land use designation of B-P, Business 
Park District Overlay (Mixed Use District). This designation is intended to accommodate 
a wide range of business uses and may include manufacturing operations within 
completely enclosed buildings, associated offices, trade schools, and supporting 
childcare and retail activities. The applicant is requesting a conditional use permit to 
construct 610 mini storage units to support newly established development in the area. 
The Project is consistent with the land use designation.  
 
Figure 2 

 
 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 4 
 
   

 
 
 

  

Zoning: The subject property is zoned Business Park (B-P) (See Figure 3).  The purpose 
of the B-P zone is to provide a location for Mixed Uses necessary within the City, but not 
suited to other commercial districts. 
 
Figure 3: 
 

 
 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 5 
 
   

 
 
 

  

III. FISCAL IMPACTS:  
 
No negative fiscal impacts are anticipated with the approval of this project. This item 
has been reviewed by the Finance Department. 
 
IV. LEGAL REVIEW: 
 
This item has been reviewed by the City Attorney. 
 
V. EXISTING POLICY:  
 
None  
 
VI. INTERDEPARTMENTAL COORDINATION:  
 
The Planning Commission could affirm the staff’s recommendation or make another 
recommendation consistent with the Atwater Municipal Code. 
 
VII. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:  
 
The public will have an opportunity to provide comments on this item prior to Planning 
Commission action. The public will have the opportunity to provide comments on this item 
prior to Planning Commission action. 
 
VIII. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW:  
 
Pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the project is categorically 
exempt under guideline section 15332, Class 32 “in-fill development.” 
 
IX. STEPS FOLLOWING APPROVAL:  

 
Following adoption of Resolution No. 0257-24, Conditional Use Permit No.  24-24-0100 
and Site Plan No. 24-24-0200 and a five-day appeal period, the signed resolutions will 
be given to the applicant.  
 
 
 
Prepared by: Scott Ruffalo, Planning Technician 
 
 
 
Submitted by: _____________________________________________________ 

Greg Thompson, Deputy City Manager / Community Development                
Director  

 
 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 6 
 
   

 
 
 

  

Attachments:  
1. Resolution No. 0257-24 
2. City of Atwater Uniform Development Application  
3. Operational Statement  
4. Site Plan  
5. Elevation  
6. Mini Storage Categorical Exemption 

 
 



 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

OF THE CITY OF ATWATER 

   
 
 

                                                                                                                                    
RESOLUTION NO. PC 0257-24 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF ATWATER 
APPROVING CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 
24-24-0100 AND SITE PLAN NO. 24-24-0200 FOR 
MINI STORAGE LOCATED AT BELL AVENUE 
BETWEEN TRUCKEE DRIVE AND SHASTA 
DRIVE IN ATWATER (APN: 001-134-012). 

 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a duly noticed public hearing as required by 
law on November 20, 2024; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed project parcel is zoned B-P Business Park District Overlay, 
which zone allows the same conditional uses as prescribed in Zones C-O to M-2 
inclusive when reviewed and granted by the Planning Commission; and 

WHEREAS, Chapter 17.49 of the Atwater Municipal Code provides for mini-warehouse 
developments with a Use Permit in the industrial, highway related, general commercial, 
planned development mixed use, and residential transition zones; and 

WHEREAS, this proposed project complies with the development standards for mini 
warehouses as prescribed in Section 17.49.060 of the Atwater Municipal Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the accessory uses proposed by the project, consisting of an office and a 
manager’s residential unit, comply with Section 17.49.040 of the Atwater Municipal 
Code and said accessory uses provide for meeting the City’s requirement for a full-time 
live-in manager; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed Conditional Use Permit No. 24-24-0100 and Site Plan 24-24-
0200 will not have a detrimental effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the 
neighborhood, nor have any adverse effect on the community; and, 

WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Resolution have occurred; 
and, 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0257-24 Page 2 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission finds that the following findings can be made for 
Conditional Use Permit No. 24-24-0100 and Site Plan 24-24-0200. 

1. The proposed Conditional Use Permit No. 24-24-0100 and Site Plan 24-24-0200 is 
consistent with the Atwater General Plan. 

2. That the project is categorically exempt from CEQA under guideline 15332, Class 
32, “in-fill development”. 

3. The public hearing for this application has been adequately noticed and advertised. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Planning Commission of the City of 
Atwater does hereby approve Conditional Use Permit No. 24-24-0100 and Site Plan 
24-24-0200 subject to the following conditions:  

 
BUILDING / FIRE  
 

1. Apply for a permit application in person or online via CloudPermit. 
 

2. Permit application and as per Atwater Municipal Code Title 15 all plan submittals 
shall reflect the latest Building Codes and Appendices as adopted. Materials 
such as Designed Plans, Project Specifications, Structural Calculations, Energy 
Calculations, Soils Report, California Green Code Documents, and Special 
Inspection form (filled out by project designer), and any other applicable 
documents shall be included in plan submittal.           

 
3. Plan submittals shall be submitted using the city’s digital on-line permitting 

system CloudPermit. If project is submitted via hard copy plans, please send Five 
(5) sets of plans including the calculations and any supporting materials three (3) 
sets of Energy, Structural, Soils Report, California Green Code Documents, 
Special Inspection form, and any other applicable calculations/specifications or 
documents.    
 

4. All Conditions of Approval for this project shall be written by the project developer 
on all building permit plan check sets submitted for review and approval. These 
Conditions of Approval shall be on, at all times, all grading and construction plans 
kept on project site. It is the responsibility of the project developer to ensure that 
the project contractor is aware of and abides by. All Conditions of Approval. Prior 
approval from the Community Development Director must be received before any 
changes are made to site design, grading, building design, building colors or 
materials. 

 
5. The deposit amount for plan check fees will be calculated by staff after receipt of 

a complete Building Permit Application and must be paid prior to processing the 
plans for review. 
 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0257-24 Page 3 
 

6. Building Plans shall reflect the most recent California Building Codes (Title 24) 
which consist of the Building Code volumes 1 & 2.  

                                                                        
7. Building Permit cards and city approved plans and calculations shall always be 

kept on the construction site. No inspection shall be conducted without these 
documents. 

  
8. The construction site shall have an address clearly posted at the front of property 

to provide easy recognition for both building inspectors and emergency services.  
 

9. No sitework is to start until fees are paid and Building Permit is issued. Failure to 
adhere to this requirement will result in a STOP WORK ORDER being issued. 

 
10. All fire related designs shall comply with the 2022 Fire Code as adopted by the 

City of Atwater including Appendices C, D, I and J.  
 

11. A Fire Sprinkler system designed by a licensed fire sprinkler design engineer 
shall be installed in any structure with a floor area over 5,000 square feet as per 
Atwater Municipal Code 8.40.010. 

 
12. Any static hydro flow testing shall be scheduled through the Fire Marshal’s office 

prior to plan submittal. 
 

13. All Fire Apparatus access roads shall be designed, constructed, and maintained 
to support the loads of fire apparatus weighing up to 75,00 lbs. All apparatus 
roads shall be constructed with all-weather surfaces such as asphalt, concrete, 
or other approved diving surfaces. 

 
14. A Knox Box shall be installed at the entry area, within six feet of the entry door 

and at a height of six feet from the ground, or as otherwise specified by the Fire 
Marshal. A click-to- Enter system will be installed on the main entry gate for Fire 
and Law Enforcement access. 

 
15. Address numbers shall be not less than 18” inches high and 2” inches wide, 

contrasting with the building color scheme and easily visible from the frontage 
road. 

 
16. The main double detector check valve assembly for the Fire Department 

Connection (FDC)to the sprinkler system shall be painted Fire Red and clearly 
labeled for its intended use. 

 
17. Each storage space shall be clearly marked by numbers that are not less than six 

inches high and one inch wide, contrasting with the building color scheme. 
 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0257-24 Page 4 
 

18. Any exterior door leading to an interior electrical panel, fire alarm equipment, or 
fire sprinkler standpipe shall be clearly labeled with all-weather signage 
consisting of Fire Red letting not less than 4” four inches high on a white 
background. 

 
POLICE / CODE ENFORCEMENT 
 

19. All outdoor electricity plugs, and water valves must be properly secured to 
prevent theft of utilities and materials. 
 

20. Adequate lighting must be provided to deter unwanted access or camping on the 
property. 
 

21. All vehicles must be stored, parked, or placed only on paved surfaces. 
 

22. External storage (i.e. sea vans, storage containers, or intermodal containers) 
shall not be allowed on the property. 
 

23. All signs must comply with Atwater Municipal Code Chapter 17.69. "Feather 
flags" and "A-frame" signs are not permitted. 
 

24. Discarded materials, scrap, or salvaged materials may not be stored or kept 
outside of the building in public view. 
 

25. Any additions or improvements to external lighting, after approval, must comply 
with Atwater Municipal Code Section 8.32.030(M). 
 

26. The applicant is responsible for the abatement of all graffiti on the exterior of the 
building. 
 

27. The applicant is responsible for all Commercial Blight Prevention requirements 
per Atwater Municipal Code Chapter 8.18. 

 
ENGINEERING / PUBLIC WORKS 
 

28. For the proposed on-site improvements and off-site improvements, the developer 
shall cause Improvements Plans to be prepared. The plans shall be prepared by 
a Licensed Civil Engineer or under his/her direction. The plans shall be prepared 
on 24” X 36” plan sheets and to a reasonable scale. The plans shall be in a 
format to be approved by the City Engineer and shall show all the proposed 
grading and on-site and off-site improvements for the proposed development. 
The title of the plan shall be shown at the top of Sheet No.1. Sheets shall be 
numbered in consecutive order. An index showing the sheets contained within 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0257-24 Page 5 
 

and as a part of the Site Improvements Plan shall be shown on Sheet 1. 
 

29. Developer shall show on revised site plan the following: amounts of impervious 
and pervious areas, the area designated for storm water retention, proposed 
street lighting, and proposed landscape areas. 
 

30. An encroachment permit shall be required for any construction to be done in the 
public right of way, in easements, or on lands to be dedicated to the City of 
Atwater upon completion of the improvements. The encroachment permit shall 
be obtained prior to the start of said work. The permit fees shall be determined 
per the current adopted fee schedule. 
 

31. All improvements, public and private, shall be designed and constructed in 
accordance with the most recent edition of the Standard Plans and 
Specifications, all applicable state and local ordinances, standards and 
requirements. Should a conflict arise, the governing specification shall be 
determined by the City Engineer. 
 

32. Hydrologic and hydraulic calculations for determining the storm system design, 
with hydraulic grade line, water surface profile, and adequate field survey cross 
section data, shall be provided satisfactory to the City Engineer. Development 
shall retain/detain the 100-year 24-hr storm event. 
 

33. Developer shall comply with Chapter 13.22 of the Atwater Municipal Code 
“Storm Water Management and Discharge Control” and with the City of Atwater 
Post Construction Standards Plan. 
 

34. The developer shall process a Post-Construction Stormwater BMP Operation 
and Maintenance Plan for review and approval to the satisfaction of the City 
Engineer. 
 

35. The Owner shall execute any agreements identified in the Post-Construction 
Standards Plan that pertain to the transfer of ownership and/or long-term 
maintenance of stormwater treatment or hydrograph modification. 
 

36. The developer shall install a reduced pressure principle backflow device for 
potable water and an approved backflow device for irrigation water. Individual 
services are to be provided for potable water and landscaping purposes. The 
services shall be metered; a Sensus “Flex-Net” radio read meter shall be used. 
Service shall include a backflow prevention device enclosure, mounted on a 
concrete pad. The RPP device shall include unions on both riser pipes for 
easier maintenance. RPP devices shall be shown on the Site Improvement Plan 
including, brand names and types. Individual services shall be required for 
irrigation, fire, and potable water. 
 

37. All portions of roadway and sidewalk disturbed by installation of utilities (gas, 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0257-24 Page 6 
 

electric, sewer, water, communications, etc.) shall be restored to the satisfaction 
of the city Engineer. 
 

38. Prior to submitting a building/encroachment permit, the applicant shall submit a 
geotechnical engineering report (soils report) to the City Engineer for review and 
approval. The report shall include the information and be in the form as required 
by the City Engineer and all applicable codes. 
 

39. 6-inch (6”) high Portland Cement Concrete curbing shall be provided between 
all paved areas and landscaped areas. In addition, curbing between the length 
of any parking space and a landscaped area shall include a 12” wide “courtesy 
curb.” Curb cuts shall be allowed for LID drainage designs. 
 

40. Any water wells found during construction shall be destroyed in accordance with 
approved City Standards and the requirements of any well destruction permit 
issued by the County of Merced. 
 

41. Any septic systems found during construction shall be destroyed in accordance 
with the approved City Standards and Merced County Environmental Health 
requirements. 
 

42. All broken, cracked or otherwise damaged public improvements, such as curb, 
gutter, and sidewalk, shall be saw cut, removed and replaced in accordance 
with applicable City Standards to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. 
 

43. For projects located within the Merced Irrigation District Drainage Improvement 
District No. 1 (MIDDID No. 1), the property owner will be required to enter into a 
“Storm Drainage Agreement” with the MIDDID No. 1, paying an annual 
maintenance fee and any connection fees as established by the MIDDID No. 1 
Board of Directors and as collected by the MIDDID No. 1 and on the Merced 
County Tax Rolls 
 

44. Applicant must ensure there is plenty of room for garbage truck access to and 
leaving the trash enclosure. Applicant shall ensure there is sufficient clearance 
for vehicular access to the trash enclosure. 

 
MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT 

 
45. MID operates and maintains the Bloss Lateral “A” pipeline assembly located 

within a 40-foot wide, 1,052-foot-long fee strip paralleling Bell Drive as 
described in that certain deed recorded October 24, 1924, in Volume 124, 
Official Records, Page 25, Merced County Records. 
 

46. If storm water runoff is to be discharged from the site into any MID facility 
through a new or existing drainage system the property owner would be 
required to enter into a subdivision drainage agreement with the MID, paying all 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0257-24 Page 7 
 

applicable fees. 
 

47. The property owner shall execute an appropriate encroachment agreement for 
all work over or under any MID facilities, including bridges, utilities, driveways 
and pipelines and pay all associated MID fees. 
 

48. Pending MID Board of Directors approval, MID may sell its 40-foot-wide fee strip 
to developer based on the County Assessor’s assessed value. In exchange, 
developer will grant a new, appropriate width exclusive easement to MID to 
accommodate the Bloss Lateral “A” pipeline. 
 

49. A signature block to be provided for MID on all Improvement Plans. 
 

50. MID reserves the right for further comment as unforeseen circumstances may 
arise. 
 

PLANNING 
 

51. All off-premise commercial advertising displays visible from the National Highway 
System are subject to the provisions of the California Outdoor Advertising Act 
(Bus. & Prof. Code Section 5200 et. seq.) and must obtain an ODA Permit from 
the Office of Encroachment and Outdoor Advertising Permits (OEOAP) prior to 
placement.  
 

52. Developer shall limit hours of construction and construction related duties to 6:00 
AM – 5:00 PM Monday thru Friday. With no construction allowed on the 
weekends. 
 

53. Developer should seek to utilize the cleanest (air quality) available for off-road 
construction equipment.  
 

54. Applicant shall comply with all the conditions of approval prior to issuance of a 
business license. 
 

55. Applicant shall comply with all Commercial and Industrial Design Guidelines.  
 

56. All signs shall be erected in compliance with the adopted Atwater Municipal 
Code Section. 17.69 standards. 
 

57. The Planning Commission shall retain the right to reconsider Conditional Use 
Permit No. 24-24-0100, and Site Plan 24-24-0200 at any time. 
 

58. This approval is contingent upon and limited to the proposals and plans 
contained, supporting documents submitted, presentations made to staff, and 
Planning Commission as affirmed to by the applicant. Any variation from these 
plans, proposals, supporting documents, or presentations is made void subject 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0257-24 Page 8 
 

to this approval and is subject to reapplication. 
 

59. Applicant must pay a one-time Commercial Conditional Use Permit General 
Plan Update Fee in accordance with the Miscellaneous Fee Schedule. 
 

60. Applicant must pay an annual Conditional Use Permit Monitoring fee in 
accordance with the Miscellaneous Fee Schedule.  
 

61. The applicant or applicant’s successor in interest shall indemnify and defend 
and hold harmless the City of Atwater, its agents, officers, and employees from 
any and all claims, actions, or proceedings against the City of Atwater, its 
agents, officers, and employees to attack, set aside, void, or annul any approval 
by the City of Atwater and its advisory agency, appeal board, or legislative body 
concerning this application, which action is brought within applicable statutes of 
limitations. The City of Atwater shall promptly notify the applicant or applicant’s 
successor in interest of any claim or proceedings and shall cooperate fully in the 
defense. If the City fails to do so, the applicant or applicant’s successor in 
interest shall not thereafter be responsible to defend, indemnify or hold the City 
harmless. This condition may be placed on any plans or other documents 
pertaining to this application. 

 

The foregoing resolution is hereby adopted this 20th day of November, 2024. 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:     
       APPROVED: 
 
       _____________________________                                                               
       DON BORGWARDT,  
       CHAIR 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________                                                                           
GREG THOMPSON,  
DEPUTY CITY MANAGER /  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 





























Operational Statement 
 

Hi Scott, 
 
 The min storage will be open seven (7) days a week.  The office hours will be from 
8:00 to 5:00.  There will be two employees.  Gate hours will be from 7:00 AM to 7:00 PM.   
 
I hope this answers your questions for an operational statement. 
 
Regards, 
 
Pat Corrigan 

















CITY OF ATWATER RSO NO. 0257-24   Page 1 of 17 

CITY OF ATWATER 
CATEGORICAL EXEMPTION 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT FOR 
RESOLUTION NO. 0257-24  

 
THE PROJECT DESCRIBED HEREIN IS DETERMINED TO BE CATEGORICALLY EXEMPT 

FROM THE PREPARATION OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL DOCUMENTS PURSUANT TO 
ARTICLE 19 OF THE STATE CEQA GUIDELINES1 

 
PROJECT TITLE: Mini Storage Complex (Resolution No. 0257-24) 

APPLICANT: Corrigan Builders 
Attn: Patrick Corrigan 
Monterey, CA, 93940 
(831) 277-7798 
 

PROJECT 
LOCATION: 

The Project site is in Atwater, California on the northwest corner 
of Bell Drive and Truckee Drive (Figure 1 and Figure 2). The site 
is situated in southwest corner of the city, adjacent southwest of 
State Route 99. The Project site consists of one (1) parcel that is 
approximately 5.5 acres in size. The site is identified by Merced 
County Assessor as Assessor’s Parcel Number (APN) 001-134-
012.  
 

GENERAL PLAN 
DESIGNATION: 

Commercial (Figure 3) 
 
  

ZONING: B-P Business Park Zone District (Figure 4) 
 

PROJECT 
DESCRIPTION: 

The Project site includes a 20-feet-wide Merced Irrigation District 
(MID) pipeline easement and a 10-feet-wide public utility 
easement (PUE) along Bell Drive, where no work would be 
performed. As such, the proposed “Area of Work” is confined to 
the rest of the Project site, which is approximately 5 acres in size. 
(Figure 5)  
 
Conditional Use Permit (CUP), filed by Corrigan Builders, 
proposes 610 mini storage units within 11 buildings, totaling 
95,970 square feet, and a two (2)-story office building with a 
garage and living quarters, totaling 1,800 square feet, within the 
“Area of Work”. Five (5) parking spaces and site improvements 
including paved drive aisles, curb, gutter, sidewalk, lighting, trash 
enclosure, and landscape areas, are also proposed. Once (1) 
point of access to the site is provided on Bell Drive. (Figure 6)  

 
1 Public Resources Code 210000-21189 and California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, 
Sections 15000-15387 available from http://leginfo.ca.gov and http://ccr.oal.ca.gov  

http://leginfo.ca.gov/
http://ccr.oal.ca.gov/


CITY OF ATWATER RSO NO. 0257-24   Page 2 of 17 

 
Figure 1 Project Regional Location 



CITY OF ATWATER RSO NO. 0257-24   Page 3 of 17 

 
Figure 2 Project Vicinity Map 



CITY OF ATWATER RSO NO. 0257-24   Page 4 of 17 

 
Figure 3 General Plan Land Use Designation Map (Existing) 



CITY OF ATWATER RSO NO. 0257-24   Page 5 of 17 

 
Figure 4 Zoning Map (Existing) 



CITY OF ATWATER RSO NO. 0257-24   Page 6 of 17 

 
Figure 5 Project Site Aerial and “Area of Work” 



CITY OF ATWATER RSO NO. 0257-24   Page 7 of 17 

 
Figure 6 Project Site Plan 

 



CITY OF ATWATER RSO NO. 0257-24   Page 8 of 17 

This project is exempt under Section 15332 / Class 32 of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines. 
 
Under Section 15332/ Class 32, the Project is exempt from CEQA requirements. Section 
15532/Class 32 consists of projects characterized as in-fill development meeting conditions 
described below. 
 

a) The project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and all applicable 
general plan policies as well as with applicable zoning designation and regulations. 

b) The proposed development occurs within city limits on a project site of no more than five 
acres substantially surrounded by urban uses. 

c) The project sire has no value as habitat for endangered, rare, or threatened species. 
d) Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating to traffic, noise, 

air quality, or water quality. 
e) The site can be adequately served by all required utilities and public services. 
 

The following is an analysis of how the Project meets all conditions required to be exempt under 
Section 15332/ Class 32 of the CEQA Guidelines. 
 

a) The project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and all 
applicable general plan policies as well as with applicable zoning designation and 
regulations. The Project site has a General Plan Land Use Designation of Commercial 
(Figure 3), which is intended to provide for a wide range of commercial activities ranging 
from regional commercial facilities to general neighborhood commercial uses. The 
General Plan specifies that commercial uses may include retail to service, and 
entertainment uses. 
 
The applicable General Plan policy for commercial is Policy LU-2.2., which states that 
the City shall “encourage design of large-scale commercial, industrial, and business 
park projects that are oriented to a human scale.” In particular, the City has identified 
an Atwater Redevelopment Area, which the Redevelopment Agency (a separate entity 
from the City) is tasked with finding and retaining local business. The Project is located 
within this targeted Redevelopment Project Area and proposes a use – enclosed mini-
storage complex – that is consistent with the Commercial Land Use Designation. 
Therefore, the Project is consistent with the applicable land use designation and 
policies. 
 
The Project site is within the B-P – Business Park Zone District. According to the City of 
Atwater Municipal Code Chapter 17.39 – B-P, Business Park District Overlay (Mixed 
Use District), the B-P Zone District is established to be consistent with the General Plan 
Land Use Element and encourage a mixture of commercial and industrial development. 
The objectives of the B-P Zone District are to provide an attractively designed business 
park that allows mixed commercial and industrial uses made compatible through 
promotion of architectural elements and to ensure that developments are visually 
organized, clear, and coherent. 
 



CITY OF ATWATER RSO NO. 0257-24   Page 9 of 17 

Permitted uses in the C-O – Office Commercial, C-T – Thoroughfare Commercial, C-G 
– General Commercial, M-1 – Light Industrial, and M-2 – Industrial District are permitted 
in the B-P Zone District as long as such uses have no adverse environmental impact 
upon surrounding uses. Pursuant to Chapter 17.40.020, warehouses are permitted in 
the M-1 base zone. Administrative and executive offices are also permitted as an 
accessory use.  Based on the Site Plan (Figure 6), the Project meets and/or exceeds 
the applicable zoning regulations for the M-1 Zone District and use-specific standards 
outlined in Chapter 17.49 – Mini-Warehouses; however, staff will review details during 
the conditional use permit process to ensure compliance with applicable development 
standards and design criteria included but not limited to setbacks, height, landscaping, 
parking, etc. For these reasons, it can be determined that the Project is consistent with 
the applicable zoning designation and regulations.  

 
b) The proposed development occurs within city limits on a project site of no more 

than five acres substantially surrounded by urban uses. The Project site consists 
of one (1) parcel with an “Area of Work” that is approximately 5 acres in an urbanized 
area that is within the Atwater city limits, generally located adjacent to State Route 99, 
in the northeast corner of Bell Drive and Truckee Drive. Surrounding existing uses, 
structures, and infrastructure include residential (north), vacant land (east), residential 
(west), and services and vacant land (south). Existing uses within the broader Project 
vicinity (i.e., within ½-mile radius of the site) comprise of a mix of commercial, services, 
and residential uses. There are several vacant parcels within the Project vicinity, which 
are mostly planned for business park, commercial, and industrial uses within the 
Redevelopment Area. As such, the Project’s “Area of Work” occurs within city limits on 
a site that is no more than five (5) acres and is substantially surrounded by urban uses. 

 
c) The project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare, or threatened 

species. The Project site is currently vacant with off-site improvements (i.e, curb, gutter, 
sidewalk) along Bell Drive and Trucker Drive. The site has been highly disturbed as it is 
frequently disked and graded.  

 
According to the California Natural Diversity Database (CNDDB), special-status species 
that have occurred within five (5) miles of the Project site include tricolored blackbird, 
San Joaquin kit fox, Swainson’s hawk, burrowing owl, vernal pool fairy shrimp, 
northwestern pond turtle, ferruginous hawk, California linderiella, succulent owl's-clover, 
and California tiger salamander. 2 
 
Table 1 provides an analysis of essential habitats and the potential for the existence of 
the special-status species to exist on the Project site. There are eleven (11) trees along 
the eastern boundary of the Project site. There are no existing shrubs or water features 
on site. 
 

 
 

 
2 California Department of Fish and Wildlife. California Natural Diversity Database - Rarefind. Assessed October 10, 2024, 
https://apps.wildlife.ca.gov/rarefind/view/RareFind.aspx  

https://apps.wildlife.ca.gov/rarefind/view/RareFind.aspx


CITY OF ATWATER RSO NO. 0257-24   Page 10 of 17 

Table 1. Essential Habitats and Potential Existence of Special-Status Species on Site 
Special-
Status 

Species 
General Habitat Micro Habitat Assessment 

Swainson's 
hawk 

Breeds in grasslands 
with scattered trees, 
juniper-sage flats, 
riparian areas, 
savannahs, and 
agricultural or ranch 
lands with groves or 
lines of trees. 

Requires adjacent 
suitable foraging areas 
such as grasslands, or 
alfalfa or grain fields 
supporting rodent 
populations. 

The Project site is vacant with scant 
vegetation and surrounded by existing 
commercial and residential development 
(north, west, south) and graded vacant 
land (south, east).  The site does not 
contain any riparian areas, savannahs, or 
grasslands. As such, the site does not 
provide suitable habitat. 

Tricolored 
blackbird 

Highly colonial species, 
most numerous in 
Central Valley and 
vicinity. Largely 
endemic to California. 

Requires open water, 
protected nesting 
substrate, and 
foraging area with 
insect prey within a 
few km of the colony. 

The site does not provide open water. As 
such, the site does not provide suitable 
habitat. 

San Joaquin 
kit fox 

Annual grasslands or 
grassy open stages 
with scattered shrubby 
vegetation. 

Need loose-textured 
sandy soils for 
burrowing, and 
suitable prey base. 

The San Joaquin kit fox occurrence was 
found along the city’s irrigation canal 
approximately 1.75 miles north of the 
Project site. The Project site does not 
include grasslands or grassy open stages 
due to frequent disking and grading. In 
addition, the site is surrounded by existing 
development. As such, the site does not 
provide suitable habitat. 

northwestern 
pond turtle 

Associated with aquatic 
habitat with muddy 
bottoms.  

Needs basking sites. The Project site and vicinity do not provide 
ponds, marshes, rivers, streams and 
irrigation ditches. As such, the site does 
not provide suitable habitat. 

burrowing 
owl 

Open, dry annual or 
perennial grasslands, 
deserts, and 
scrublands 
characterized by low-
growing vegetation. 

Subterranean nester, 
dependent upon 
burrowing mammals, 
most notably, the 
California ground 
squirrel. 

The Project site has been highly disturbed 
as it is frequently disked and graded. In 
addition, the site is surrounded by existing 
development. As such, the site does not 
provide suitable habitat. 

vernal pool 
fairy shrimp 

Endemic to the 
grasslands of the 
Central Valley, Central 
Coast mountains, and 
South Coast 
mountains, in astatic 
rain-filled pools. 

Inhabit small, clear-
water sandstone-
depression pools and 
grassed swale, earth 
slump, or basalt-flow 
depression pools. 

The site does not provide open water. As 
such, the site does not provide suitable 
habitat. 

ferruginous 
hawk 

Open grasslands, 
sagebrush flats, desert 
scrub, low foothills and 
fringes of pinyon and 
juniper habitats. 

Eats mostly 
lagomorphs, ground 
squirrels, and mice. 
Population trends may 
follow lagomorph 
population cycles 

The Project site does not include 
grasslands due to frequent disking and 
grading. In addition, the site is surrounded 
by existing development. As such, the site 
does not provide suitable habitat. 

California 
linderiella 

Seasonal pools in 
unplowed grasslands 
with old alluvial soils 
underlain by hardpan 

Water in the pools has 
very low alkalinity, 
conductivity, and total 
dissolved solids. 

The site does not provide open water. As 
such, the site does not provide suitable 
habitat. 



CITY OF ATWATER RSO NO. 0257-24   Page 11 of 17 

or in sandstone 
depressions. 

succulent 
owl's-clover 

Vernal pools. Moist places, often in 
acidic soils. 20-705 m. 

The site does not provide open water. As 
such, the site does not provide suitable 
habitat. 

California 
tiger 
salamander 

Lives in vacant or 
mammal-occupied 
burrows throughout 
most of the year; in 
grassland, savanna, or 
open woodland 
habitats. 

Need underground 
refuges, especially 
ground squirrel 
burrows, and vernal 
pools or other 
seasonal water 
sources for breeding. 

The Project site does not include 
grasslands due to frequent disking and 
grading. The site does not provide open 
water. As such, the site does not provide 
suitable habitat. 

 
In addition, the site is surrounded by existing residential and commercial uses. 
Consequently, the site and surrounding area are highly disturbed and lack vegetation 
and water features that would otherwise provide habitat for special status species. Thus, 
the Project site has no value as a habitat for endangered, rare, or threatened species 
and no impact would occur as a result of the Project. 

 

d) Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating to 
traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality. 

 
i. Traffic. Senate Bill (SB) 743 requires that relevant CEQA analysis of transportation 

impacts can be conducted using a metric known as vehicle miles traveled (VMT) 
instead of Level of Service (LOS). VMT measures how much actual automobile 
travel (additional miles driven) a proposed project would create on California roads. 
If the project adds excessive automobile travel onto roads, then the project may 
cause a significant transportation impact.  
 
The State CEQA Guidelines were amended to implement SB 743, by adding 
Section 15064.3. Among its provisions, Section 15064.3 confirms that, except with 
respect to transportation projects, a project’s effect on automobile delay shall not 
constitute a significant environmental impact. Therefore, LOS measures of impacts 
on traffic facilities are no longer relevant CEQA criteria for transportation impacts. 
 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.3(b)(4) states that “[a] lead agency has discretion 
to evaluate a project’s vehicle miles traveled, including whether to express the 
change in absolute terms, per capita, per household or in any other measure. A 
lead agency may use models to estimate a project’s vehicle miles traveled and 
may revise those estimates to reflect professional judgment based on substantial 
evidence. Any assumptions used to estimate VMT and any revision to model 
outputs should be documented and explained in the environmental document 
prepared for the project. The standard of adequacy in Section 15151 shall apply 
to the analysis described in this section.” Below is a discussion of the threshold 
and analysis used to analyze VMT impacts from the proposed Project.  
 



CITY OF ATWATER RSO NO. 0257-24   Page 12 of 17 

In 2022, the Merced County Association of Governments (MCAG) prepared and 
adopted VMT Thresholds and Guidelines (Guidelines) for the seven (7) 
jurisdictions in Merced County, including City of Atwater. The Guidelines were 
prepared and adopted consistent with the requirements of CEQA Guidelines 
Sections 15064.3 and 15064.7. The December 2018 Technical Advisory on 
Evaluating Transportation Impacts in CEQA (Technical Advisory) published by the 
Governor’s Office of Planning and Research (OPR), was utilized as a reference 
and guidance document in the preparation of the VMT thresholds specified in 
MCAG’s Guidelines. 
 
MCAG’s Guidelines adopted a screening standard and criteria that can be used to 
screen out qualified projects that meet the adopted criteria from needing to prepare 
a detailed VMT analysis. Guidelines Section 3.1 regarding Development Projects 
states that if a project is consistent with the jurisdiction’s General Plan, it may be 
successfully screened if the project generates fewer than 1,000 average daily trips 
(ADT). Guidelines Section 3.1.1 establishes VMT screening thresholds for land 
uses based on 1,000 ADT threshold. 
 
The Project’s anticipated trip generation was estimated using the Institute of 
Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual, 11th Edition. The 
applicable land use is Mini-Warehouse (ITE Code 151) and Small Office Building 
(ITE 712). As shown in Table 2, the Project is anticipated to generate a total of 165 
ADT, which is less than the 1,000 ADT Threshold. Since this is less than the 1,000 
ADT threshold, the Project can be presumed to be less than significant and may 
be screened out of SB 743-related VMT analysis requirements. Therefore, the 
Project is consistent with CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.3(b) and a less than 
significant impact would occur. 

 
Table 2. Trip Generation for the Proposed Project 

Land Use 
(ITE Code) 

Unit of 
Measurement 

Project Size 
(in thousands) 

Daily A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour 

Rate Total Trip Rate Total Trip Rate 
 Total 

Mini-Warehouse 
(151) 1,000 SF 95.97 1.45 139.16 0.09 8.64 0.15 14.40 

Small Office 
Building 

(712) 

1,000 
SF 1.8 14.39 25.90 1.67 3 2.16 3.9 

Total - - - 165.06 - 11.64 - 18.3 
 

ii. Noise. Although the Project would result in increased ambient noise level at the 
Project site, compliance with the General Plan and Municipal Code requirements 
would result in the Project’s compliance with applicable standards. Two (2) noise 
generating sources of the Project would include construction (short-term, 
temporary) and operational (long-term) noise, each described below. Overall, the 
Project would result in a less than significant impact in regard to noise as discussed 
below. 
 



CITY OF ATWATER RSO NO. 0257-24   Page 13 of 17 

Construction would result in short-term noise impacts. Temporary construction 
noise impacts from construction activities would be generated from the use of 
construction equipment for grading the site and building the proposed structures. 
Construction would not include equipment such as piledriving that would cause 
significant noise impacts. Further, Project construction is not expected to result in 
a significant impact because the noise would be generated during daylight hours 
and not during evening or more noise-sensitive time periods; and the increase in 
noise would cease upon completion of the Project. Section 8.44.050 of the AMC 
regulates permissible hours of construction between the hours of 7:00 am and 7:00 
pm, Monday through Friday, and 9:00 am and 5:00 pm, Saturdays and Sundays. 
For these reasons, the Project would have a less than significant impact in regard 
to construction noise impacts.  
 
In terms of operational noise, the Project would consist of a mini storage complex 
in an enclosed building. Since the Project proposes a mini storage, operational 
noise sources would be minimal, generally comprising of vehicle noise (i.e., engine 
idling and closing/opening doors) and moving items to and from the vehicles. This 
is consistent with the General Plan’s vision of business park uses being “quiet and 
require infrequent use of large trucks for pickup or delivery of parts of products.” 
Further, the Project would be required to comply with the AMC requirements 
specified in Section 8.44.040 which regulates specific prohibited noises. For these 
reasons, the Project would have a less than significant impact in regard to noise 
impacts from operations. 
 

iii. Air Quality. The Project would not have any significant effects relating to air quality 
pursuant to the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District (SJVAPCD) Small 
Project Analysis Level (SPAL) based on pre-quantified emissions and determined 
values related to project type, size, and number of vehicle trips. According to the 
SPAL, projects that fit specified descriptions are deemed to have a less than 
significant impact on air quality and as such are excluded from quantifying criteria 
pollutant emissions for CEQA purposes. Based on the Project description, the 
applicable land use type for the proposed project is an Unrefrigerated Warehouse- 
No Rail. The corresponding threshold for this land use is shown in Table 3. Overall, 
the Proposed project is under the SPAL thresholds, and the Project would have a 
less than significant impact on air quality and is excluded from quantifying criterial 
pollutant emissions for CEQA purposes.  
 

Table 3. SPAL Thresholds for Applicable Use 
Land Use Type: 

Unrefrigerated Warehouse- 
No Rail 

Size (sq feet) 
Average Daily One-Way 
Trips for all fleet types 

(except HHDT) 

Average Daily One-Way 
for HHDT Trips only (50 

mile trip length) 
SPAL Thresholds 190,000 140 15 
Proposed Project 95,970 139.16 0 

Below Threshold? Yes Yes 
* ITE Trip Generation Manual 11th Edition is used to estimate the Average Daily Trips (ADTs) for the Proposed 
Project. See Table 1.  

 
 



CITY OF ATWATER RSO NO. 0257-24   Page 14 of 17 

iv. Water Quality. The Project site is an infill site within Atwater city limits. 
Development of the Project would require connections to existing utilities including 
water and stormwater systems. Since the site is greater than one (1) acre in size, 
development would require the preparation of a Stormwater Pollution Prevention 
Plan (SWPPP) with Best Management Practices (BMPs) to minimize the potential 
for the Project to violate water discharge requirements or otherwise substantially 
degrade surface or groundwater quality. Future runoff resulting from the 
development of the site would be managed by the Storm Water Management 
Group in compliance with the State Water Resources Control Board General 
Permit in accordance with the Federal Clean Water Act. The Project would also be 
subject to compliance with Chapter 13.22 of AMC which contains the City’s storm 
water management and discharge control regulations and approved grading and 
drainage plans. Compliance with existing regulations would reduce potential 
impacts related to water quality and waste discharge to less than significant levels.   

 
e) The site can be adequately served by all required utilities and public services. 

 
i. Utilities and Service Systems. Since the Project site is an infill site within the 

Atwater city limits, there is existing utility infrastructure including water, sewer, 
stormwater, natural gas, electricity, and telecommunication services to which the 
Project would connect and may be subject to fees to be provided such services. 
Through the conditional use permit process, the Project will be reviewed and 
conditioned to ensure the Project site is developed in accordance with applicable 
regulations including the permitted density, intensity, and massing development 
standards. Consequently, the Project would be consistent with the planned land 
use previously accounted for in the Atwater General Plan and subsequent utility 
master plans. For these reasons, it can be determined that the Project would not 
require or result in the relocation or construction of new or expanded facilities and 
thus, can be adequately served by all required utilities and service systems. 
 

ii. Public Service. The Project is located within Atwater city limits and thus, would be 
subject to fees for the construction, acquisition, and improvements for public 
services including fire protection, police protection, schools, parks and recreation. 
The Project would have a less than significant impact on public services for the 
following reasons:  
a. Fire Protection. The Project site is within the city limits and would be served 

by the Atwater Fire Department (AFD). There is one (1) fire station within a 
three (3)-mile radius of the Project, located at 699 Broadway Ave, Atwater, 
CA 95301. The Project’s proximity to an existing station would support 
adequate service ratios, response times, and other performance objectives 
for fire protection services. In addition, the Project would be reviewed and 
conditioned by the AFD for requirements related to water supply, fire hydrants, 
and fire apparatus access. Lastly, the Project would be subject to the Public 
Facilities Improvement Fee pursuant to AMC Chapter 3.50 for construction 
and acquisition costs for improvements to fire department facilities. For these 
reasons, it can be determined that the Project would not result in the need for 



CITY OF ATWATER RSO NO. 0257-24   Page 15 of 17 

new or altered facilities and as a result, a less than significant impact would 
occur. 

b. Police Protection.  The Project site is within city limits and therefore would be 
served by the Atwater Polic Department (APD). There is one (1) police station 
within a three (3)-mile radius of the Project, located at 750 Bellevue Road, 
Atwater, CA 95301. The Project’s proximity to an existing station would 
support adequate service ratios, response times, and other performance 
objectives for police protection services. In addition, the Project would be 
reviewed and conditioned by the APD for requirements related to crime 
protection. Lastly, future development would be subject to the Public Facilities 
Improvement Fee pursuant to AMC Chapter 3.50 for construction and 
acquisition costs for improvements to police department facilities. For these 
reasons, it can be determined that the Project would not result in the need for 
new or altered facilities and as a result, a less than significant impact would 
occur. 

c. Schools.  The Project proposes a storage use and would not result in a net 
increase in the area’s population. Thus, because of the nature of the Project 
(i.e., non-residential), there would be no increased demand for schools as a 
result of the Project. As such, it can be determined that the Project would not 
result in the need for new or altered facilities and as a result, and no impact 
would occur because of the Project.   

d. Parks. Parks and recreational facilities are typically impacted by an increase 
in use from proposed residential development. The Project proposes a 
storage use that would not result in a net increase in the area population. 
Thus, because of the nature of the Project (i.e., non-residential), there would 
be no increased demand for park and recreational facilities that would impact 
the City’s service standard. Therefore, no impact would occur as a result of 
the Project.  

 
Based on the analysis contained above, none of the exceptions to Categorical Exemptions set 
forth in the CEQA Guidelines, Section 15300.2 apply to this Project as analyzed in the following: 
 

a) Location. Classes 3,4,5,6, and 11 are qualified by consideration of where the project is 
to be located – a project that is ordinarily insignificant in its impact on the environment 
may in a particularly sensitive environment be significant. Therefore, Class 3 is 
considered to apply to all instances, except where the Project may impact on an 
environmental resource of hazardous or critical concern where designated, precisely 
mapped, and officially adopted pursuant to law by federal, state, or local agencies.  
 
Classes 3 (New Construction or Conversion of Small Structures), 4 (Minor Alterations 
to Land), 5 (Minor Alterations in Land Use Limitations), 6 (Information Collection), and 
11 (Accessory Structures) are not applicable to the proposed Project, therefore such 
location considerations are not applicable. 
 

b) Cumulative Impact. All exemptions for this class are inapplicable when the cumulative 
impact of successive projects of the same type in the same place, over time is 



CITY OF ATWATER RSO NO. 0257-24   Page 16 of 17 

significant. (“Cumulative Impact” is defined as the condition under which “two or more 
individual effects which, when considered together, are considerable or which 
compound or increase other environmental impacts,” pursuant to CEQA Guidelines 
Section 15355) 
 
The Project proposes a use that is consistent with and permitted by the Atwater General 
Plan and AMC. Adherence to the applicable policies and regulation would ensure that 
implementation of successive projects of the same type in the same place, over time 
would not constitute a significant, cumulative impact.  
 

c) Significant Effect. A categorical exemption shall not be used for an activity where there 
is a reasonable possibility that the activity will have a significant effect on the 
environment due to unusual circumstances.  
 
Based on the analysis provided above, the Project is not expected to have a significant 
effect on the environment due to unusual circumstances. The Project proposed is on an 
infill site within an urbanized area and there are no unusual circumstances with regard 
to the site, its location, or surroundings. The proposed mini storage is a use that is 
permitted within the planned land use designation and zone district. Since, the Project’s 
surrounding area are largely developed and the proposed use is permitted, and is easily 
accommodated on the site, there is no reasonable possibility that the activity would have 
a significant effect on the environment due to unusual circumstances. 
 

d) Scenic Highways. A categorical exemption shall not be used for a project which may 
result in damage to scenic resources within a highway officially designated as a state 
scenic highway. 
 
According to the California State Scenic Highway System Map, the Project is not located 
near a state-designated scenic highway. Therefore, the Project would not damage 
scenic resources within the state scenic highway.  
 

e) Hazardous Waste Sites. A categorical exemption shall not be used for a project located 
on a site which is included on any list compiled pursuant to Section 65962.5 of the 
Government Code. The Project is not located on a site that is included in any list 
compiled pursuant to Section 65962.5 of the Government Code. 
 
A search of the California Department of Toxic Substance Control’s EnviroStor 
database3  and the State Water Resources Control Board’s GeoTracker database 4 
reveal no hazardous material release sites on the Project site. Thus, no impact would 
occur. 

 

 
3 California Department of Toxic Substances Control. Envirostor. Accessed October 9, 2024,  
https://www.envirostor.dtsc.ca.gov/public/ 
4 California State Water Resources Control Board. GeoTracker. Accessed October 9, 2024, 
https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/  

https://www.envirostor.dtsc.ca.gov/public/
https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/


CITY OF ATWATER RSO NO. 0257-24   Page 17 of 17 

f) Historical Resources. A categorical exemption shall not be used for a project which may 
cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource.  
 
According to the Atwater General Plan, there are no local, state, or federal designated 
historical resources on the Project site or within the Project vicinity (i.e., ½-mile radius). 

 
Overall, the Project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and policies as 
well as the applicable zoning designation and regulations. The Project occurs within city limits 
on a site less than five (5) acres in size within an urbanized area. The highly disturbed site within 
an urbanized area has no value as habitat for endangered, rare, or threatened species. Further, 
the Project would not result in any significant effects relating to traffic, noise, air quality, or water 
quality and can be adequately served by all required utilities and public services. As such, the 
proposed Project is not expected to have a significant effect on the environment. Accordingly, a 
categorical exemption, as noted above, has been prepared for the Project. 

 
 Date:  October 11, 2024 
 
 Prepared By: Precision Civil Engineering 
 
 
 
 Submitted by:  
  Greg Thompson,  

Deputy City Manager / Community 
Development Director  

  City of Atwater 
  (209) 357-6342 
 

 
 


	PC Agenda 11.20.24.pdf
	PC Minutes 10.16.24
	ACTION MINUTES

	RSO 0255-24 Staff Report Packet.pdf
	RSO PC 0255-24 Staff Report-c1.pdf
	PC 255-24 Signed CUP Application.pdf
	PC 255-24 Operational Statement.pdf
	PC 255-24 Site Plan.pdf
	1. S.1
	S.1.2
	S.2
	S.3
	S.4
	S.5

	RSO PC 0255-24 Resolution-Revised.pdf
	PLANNING COMMISSION


	RSO 0257-24 Staff Report Packet.pdf
	RSO PC 0257-24 Staff Report-c1
	PLANNING COMMISSION
	AGENDA REPORT 
	TO:    Chair and Commissioners

	RSO PC 0257-24 Resolution-c1
	PLANNING COMMISSION

	PC 0257-24 Signed Application
	PC 0257-24 Operational Statement
	PC 257-24 A1 REVISED 11-13-24
	PC 0257-24 Office Elevations A1.1
	PC 0257-24 Elevations Page 1
	PC 0257-24 Elevations Page 2
	PC 0257-24 Floor Plan 1
	PC 0257-24 Floor Plan 2
	PC 0257-24 Floor Plan 3
	PC 257-24 Mini Storage_Categorical Exemption 10-11-2024



{"type":"Document","isBackSide":false,"languages":["en-us"],"usedOnDeviceOCR":false}





